1983

State of Utah v. Jake Poteet, aka Elmer Laverne Poteet : Appellant's Brief on Appeal

NATURE OF THE CASE

This case is an appeal from a final "Judgment and Order of Commitment" in Garfield County Criminal No. 2914 and a final "Judgment and Order of Commitment" in a companion case, Garfield County Criminal No. 2985. Both judgments were rendered by the Sixth District Court on March 13, 1983.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

The District Court entered a Judgment finding the Defendant-Appellant guilty of aggravated assault, a third degree felony, following a jury verdict in a trial held February 28th and March 1st of 1983 in Criminal No. 2914. The District Court entered a judgment finding the Defendant-Appellant guilty of food dumping, a third degree felony, following a jury verdict in a trial held March 10, 1983. On March 31, 1983, the Defendant-Appellant was sentenced to two consecutive terms, not to exceed

five years, at the Utah State Prison. Mr. Poter was fined \$5,000.00 in each case.

RELIEF SOUGHT BY APPELLANT

Defendant-Appellant asks that the convictions and judgments be reversed, the informations be dismissed, and he be released from custody in both cases.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Defendant-Appellant was charged in the Sixth District Court of Garfield County, State of Utah, with the offenses of aggravated robbery, a first degree felony, attempted criminal homicide, a first degree felony, and aggravated assault, a third degree felony, in Garfield County Criminal No. 2914. The Defendant was charged with bail jumping, a third degree felony, in Garfield County Criminal No. 2985. The aggravated robbery, attempted criminal homicide, and aggravated assault charges arose out of an incident on October 31, 1981, in the Circle 7 Motel in Escalante, Utah. The State alleges that the Defendant beat and robbed one Rodney Jones inside Mr. Jones' motel room, taking approximately \$600.00 in cash and leaving Mr. Jones for dead. Mr. Poter, his uncle, and two brothers were arrested November 1, 1981, and taken to the Circle 7 Motel for a lineup procedure where identification of Mr. Jones Poter and his two brothers was allegedly made by Mr. Jones. Rodney Jones then identify the uncle of Mr. Poter.

Based upon the incident of October 31, 1981, Mr. Jones

Mr. Poteet was initially charged with assault, a class B misdemeanor, in the Justice of the Peace Court in Escalante, Utah. Mr. Poteet posted \$146.00 bail and was released. The Defendant-Appellant reappeared in the Justice of the Peace Court in Escalante, Utah, on November 7, 1981, and was rearrested on charges of aggravated assault. At that time he posted \$3,000.00 bail and was again released. On November 25, 1981, the Defendant-Appellant appeared in the Tenth Circuit Court in Richfield, Sevier County, State of Utah, for a preliminary hearing on that date but was rearrested on charges of aggravated assault, attempted criminal homicide, and aggravated robbery. A preliminary hearing on those charges was held on December 10, 1983, in Panguitch, Utah, the county seat of Garfield County. Mr. Poteet, his two brothers, and his uncle were all held to answer in the District Court of Garfield County as a result of the preliminary hearing. Mr. Poteet posted \$10,000.00 bail on December 14, 1981, and was again released from jail.

On January 7, 1982, the Defendant-Appellant did not appear before the District Court of Garfield County for arraignment, and a warrant was issued for his arrest. He was arrested on January 13, 1982, in the State of California, and following extradition proceedings was returned to the State of Utah on April 27, 1982. In May of 1982, Mr. Poteet was returned in the District Court for Garfield County on the information charging aggravated robbery, attempted criminal homicide, and aggravated assault. He was also arraigned on

bail jumping charges, even though he had not been given a preliminary hearing on those charges.

In June of 1982, Mr. Poteet was discovered to be missing from the Garfield County Jail. He was later arrested in the State of Montana and returned to the State of Utah in August of 1982. Mr. Poteet was again arraigned in the District Court on an amended information charging aggravated robbery, attempted criminal homicide, aggravated assault, bail jumping, injury to a jail, and escape. The injury to a jail charge was a third degree felony and the escape was charged as a class B misdemeanor. At the time of Mr. Poteet's arraignment of this amended information, he had not been afforded a preliminary hearing on the bail jumping, injury to a jail, or escape charge. Mr. Poteet was finally given a preliminary hearing on those charges on December 9, 1982.

On February 28th and March 1st of 1983, the Defendant-Appellant, Jake Poteet, was tried on the charges of aggravated robbery, attempted criminal homicide, and aggravated assault. Mr. Poteet was found guilty of aggravated assault, but was found not guilty of aggravated robbery and not guilty of attempted criminal homicide. This verdict was rendered by a trial jury in Garfield County. On March 10, 1983, the Defendant-Appellant was convicted by jury verdict of the third degree felony offense of bail jumping. The State of Utah moved to dismiss the offense of injury to a jail felony charge and the escape misdemeanor charge.

following Mr. Poteet's conviction on bail jumping.

On March 31, 1983, the Defendant-Appellant was sentenced by the Sixth District Court of Garfield County to two consecutive sentences not to exceed five years each and ordered to pay two \$5,000.00 fines as a result of the aggravated assault and bail jumping convictions. (R-268, R-37). At the time of the writing of this brief, Mr. Poteet is incarcerated at the Utah State Prison pursuant to these sentences.

In Case Number 2914 a Motion for compulsory process to produce out-of-state witnesses was denied prior to trial. (R-185; T-20 through T-23). A similar motion in Case Number 2985 was made and denied before the trial of that case. (T-6,7).

An Affidavit of Bias and Prejudice was filed prior to the trial of Case Number 2914 and denied. (R-195, R-200).

A Motion to Suppress Evidence was filed in Case Number 2914 on the grounds that an improper line-up was conducted and the Defendant was improperly arrested in his home without a warrant. (R-179). The trial court withheld ruling on this Motion but allowed the evidence of the line-up and arrest to be presented to the jury. (T-18).

A Motion to Dismiss on the grounds that the Defendant was improperly denied a speedy preliminary hearing was made in Case Number 2914 and Case Number 2985. (R-178, T-4). Those Motions were denied in both cases. (T-17 and T-6,7 respectively).

ARGUMENT

PAGE 1

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS DENIED
THE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN HE WAS
DENIED COMPULSORY PROCESS TO SECURE
THE ATTENDANCE OF OUT-OF-STATE
WITNESSES.

Both the Utah State Constitution, Article One, Section Twelve, and 77-1-6(1)(e), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, guarantee a Defendant in a criminal action the right to have compulsory process to secure the attendance of witnesses in his behalf. The Defendant-Appellant herein was determined to be indigent by the Circuit Court when the Public Defender was appointed to represent him. Mr. Poteet did not have sufficient funds to bring out-of-state witnesses to the trial in his behalf. Compulsory process was requested by the Defendant-Appellant to bring his brothers, Gary Poteet and Bill Poteet, to the trial from their home in the State of Washington (5-175 in Case Number 2914 and T-6,7 in Case Number 2985).

The testimony of these brothers was essential in both cases. In Case 2914 the brothers were present in the motel room where the fight took place between Ronald Jones and the Defendant-Appellant. Their testimony was needed to establish the Defendant-Appellant's claim of self-defense. The Court's refusal to issue compulsory process and to require the State of Utah to pay for the attendance of these witnesses foreclosed the self-defense theory at the trial of the aggravated assault.

... (T-20 through T-23).

The testimony of both Gary and Bill Poteet was needed in Case Number 2985 to establish a hostile community climate, giving justification for his failure to appear before the District Court for arraignment. The refusal of the State of Utah to issue process for these out-of-state witnesses forced the Defendant-Appellant to take the stand in his own defense which he determined he could not do. (T-6, T-116).

The refusal of the Trial Court and the State of Utah to assist in bringing these two witnesses to trial denied the Defendant-Appellant the defenses which he should have had available.

POINT II

THERE WAS AN INSUFFICIENT SHOWING
OF REASONS FOR THE DENIAL OF
DISQUALIFICATION UNDER THE AFFIDAVIT
OF BIAS AND PREJUDICE.

The Defendant-Appellant filed a detailed Affidavit of Bias and Prejudice seeking the disqualification of the Sixth District Judge, the Honorable Don V. Tibbs. (R-195). The Affidavit and the issues raised therein were summarily dismissed by an Order of the Honorable Allen B. Sorensen of the Fourth Judicial District. (R-209). Under Rule 63(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Judge Sorensen was to pass upon the legal sufficiency of the Affidavit. While there is no question that his Order has passed upon the legal sufficiency of the Affidavit,

it is the contention of the Defendant-Appellant that he is entitled to the Court's reasoning in such a finding. The provisions of Rule 52, Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, providing for Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law should be followed in such procedures.

POINT III

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS DENIED DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN SUBJECTED TO AN ILLEGAL LINE-UP IN ESCALANTE, UTAH ON NOVEMBER 1, 1981.

Chapter 8, Title 77, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, establishes the procedures to be used in the conduct of line-ups. The line-up procedure in this case is described in detail in the transcript of Case Number 2914. (T-38 through T-349). There was no record made of the line-up procedure or remarks. There was no photograph taken of the line-up. There was no magistrate's order for a line-up. None of the persons in the line-up were represented by counsel at the time of the line-up. The line-up included only persons who were suspects and in custody at the time of the line-up. The line-up took place some eighteen hours after the time of the alleged offense. The transcript would indicate that nearly every provision of the line-up statute, 77-8-1 through 4, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended, was violated or ignored in the present case. It would also appear from the long delay between the offense and the line-up that this procedure could not be justified as a field identification.

POINT IV

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS DENIED
DUE PROCESS OF LAW WHEN NOT GIVEN
A PRELIMINARY HEARING ON THE BAIL
JUMPING CHARGES WITHIN THE THIRTY-
DAY PERIOD MANDATED BY STATUTE.

The preliminary hearing transcript in Case Number 2985 shows that the Defendant-Appellant was not given a preliminary hearing on the bail jumping charge until December 9, 1982, some eleven months after he was first charged with that offense. While it is conceded that the Defendant-Appellant was in custody in California or Montana for some six months during this period, it is still true that he was held without a preliminary hearing on the bail jumping charge from April 27, 1982, until his departure from the Garfield County Jail on June 13, 1982, and from October 20, 1982, until December 9, 1983. When a Defendant is in custody, the code of criminal procedure requires that he be given a preliminary hearing within ten days. The more lenient limit of thirty days is allowed when a Defendant is released on bail. (77-35-7(4)(c), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended). These time limits may be extended only upon order of the magistrate, upon good cause shown. The record in Case Number 2985 is silent on the reasons for these lengthy delays.

POINT V

THE DEFENDANT-APPELLANT WAS ILLEGALLY
ARRESTED IN HIS HOME, WITHOUT A WARRANT,
AND ALL EVIDENCE DERIVED FROM THAT ARREST
SHOULD HAVE BEEN SUPPRESSED.

The Defendant-Appellant, together with his two sons and his uncle, was arrested at his home by Chief Mosier on November 1, 1981. (T-340). The Chief did not have a warrant for the arrest of the Potets. The Potets were informed that they were being arrested for theft, a felony. The case of Payton, New York, 100 S.Ct. 1371 (1980) requires that police have an arrest warrant before a suspect may be arrested in his own home. The warrantless arrest of the Defendant-Appellant by Chief Mosier was made contrary to the rule set forth in Payton, supra. This illegal arrest cannot be used to procure further evidence against the Defendant-Appellant. All evidence of the line-up identification and following processes should have been suppressed by the trial Court.

POINT VI

THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT EVIDENCE AT TRIAL TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF GUILTY OF THE OFFENSE OF AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

There was no evidence produced at the time of trial that the Defendant-Appellant used a deadly weapon in the alleged assault against Ronald Jones. The testimony of Dr. Henrie showed a slight fracture of the lateral aspect of the left orbit together with evidence of a brain concussion, a laceration of the left eyebrow, and other facial bruising and swelling. (T-419 and 421). The testimony of Dr. Henrie showed the only possibility that could have caused the death of Mr. Ronald Jones would have been the aspiration of vomitus. (T-414). There was no sufficient

expert evidence produced at trial to show that Mr. Jones sustained any serious bodily injury as that term is defined in 77-1-601(10), Utah Code Annotated, 1953, as amended.


CONCLUSION

Because of the failure of the trial Court to grant essential compulsory process, the denial of disqualification of the trial judge with no reason given, the illegal arrest and line-up identification of the Defendant-Appellant, the failure to give the Defendant-Appellant the speedy preliminary hearing mandated by statute, and the lack of sufficient evidence to support the conviction for aggravated assault, the Defendant-Appellant's convictions should be reversed and he should be released from custody.