Brigham Young University Law School

BYU Law Digital Commons

Utah Supreme Court Briefs (1965 –)

1984

State of Utah v. Jake Poteet, aka Elmer Laverne Poteet : Brief of Respondent

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

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY DENIED APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR COMPULSORY PROCESS TO SECURE, AT STATE EXPENSE, THE ATTENDANCE OF APPELLANT'S RELATIVES WHO WERE RESIDING OUT OF STATE.

Appellant claims the trial court erred in refusing to secure, at State expense, the attendance at trial of appellant's brothers Billy and Gary Poteet, who were residing

out of state. Appellant contends that their testimony was essential to establish appellant's defense of self-defense and the community atmosphere that ostensbily lead to appellant's jumping bail.

It must be noted at the outset that appellant never filed a proper motion under the "Uniform Act to Secure the Attendance of Witnesses from Without a State in Criminal proceedings" (Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-1 through 5 (1953), as amended) which is the process by which out-of-state witnesses are obtained to testify in criminal trials. He merely filed what was captioned a "Motion for Subpoenas" under Utah Code Ann. § 77-35-14 (1953), as amended, which is the local subpoena rule of the Code of Criminal Procedure which, of course, is limited to compelling" the attendance of a witness from anywhere in the state." (Section 77-35-14(e)) (emphasis added) (Rl. 185-188). This motion made no request that the defense witnesses be obtained at State expense. After this motion was denied, appellant waited until the first day of trial and filed an affidavit pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 21-5-14 (1953), seeking an order of the court to subpoena his defense witnesses at State expense (Rl. 192-193; Tl. 25). Again, this statute is not the procedural vehicle for securing the attendance of out-of-state witnesses. Moreover, appellant's affidavit lacked a specific date and was not notarized (Rl. 192-193). Thus, appellant's own failures to properly and timely apply for an order to obtain the attendance of his out-of-state witnesses, and to obtain them

at State expense justifies the action of the lower court denying appellant's request.

A defendant has a constitutional right to compulsory process, but that right is not absolute. State v. Peyton, 8 Or. App. 479, 493 P.2d 1393 (1972). The granting or denial of an application for compulsory process for out-of-state witnesses is within the sound discretion of the court. Utah Code Ann. § 77-21-3 (1982); People v. Rich, 313 N.W.2d 364 (Mich. App. 1981); State v. Ivory, 609 S.W.2d 217 (Mo. App. 1980). Discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court, Jankelson v. Cisel, 3 Wash. App. 139, 473 P.2d 202 (1970), or where the trial court in view of all the circumstances acts arbitrarily and exceeds the bounds of reason, resulting in substantial injustice. Porter v. Porter, 473 P.2d 538 (Mont. 1970). Under the circumstances of the instant case, the trial court's refusal to order the attendance of appellant's out-of-state witnesses at State expense was not an abuse of discretion.

The trial court denied appellant's request because Billy and Gary Poteet had both agreed, as a condition of probation, to return voluntarily to testify at appellant's trial that appellant had been the instigator of the assault (Tl. 492; Rl. 114, 116). Thus, their testimony would hardly be characterized as "material" to the defense. The trial court also reasoned that since they were appellant's brothers, appellant should arrange for their attendance at trial if their testimony was indeed material to his defense

(T1. 23-24). Implicit in the trial court's ruling is the assumption that a defendant's relatives have a vital interest in the defendant's case and thus are not unduly burdened by having to pay transportation and other expenses related to their attending trial to testify on the defendant's behalf. In the instant case appellant's brothers not only would not have been unduly burdened by having to attend trial at their own expense, but also had an affirmative duty to do so under the terms of their probation—albeit to testify in behalf of the state.

Utah Code Ann. § 21-5-14 (1953) provides that no witness for a defendant in a criminal case shall be subpoenaed at State expense except upon court order, and such court order shall be made only upon affidavit of the defendant showing (1) that the defendant is impecunious, (2) that counsel has advised the defendant that the witnesses' testimony is material to his defense, and (3) that the defendant cannot safely proceed to trial without the witnesses. Appellant prepared such an affidavit dated "February, 1983" (the specific date was not listed) (T1. 25; R1. 192-193), but the affidavit was not subscribed by a notary public, and was not filed with the court until the day of trial after the trial court had already denied appellant's "Motion for Subpoenas" as to appellant's out-of-state witnesses (T1. 25; R1. 185-188).8

⁸ Again, this prior motion had not requested that the out-of-state witnesses be obtained at State expense, it merely requested that they be obtained by subpoena.

Appellant's filing of the affidavit was untimely. The Supreme Judicial Court of Massachusetts, in Commonwealth v. Dirring, 354 Mass. 523, 238 N.E. 2d 508 (1968), ruled that the trial court had not abused its discretion in denying the defendant's tardy motion for compulsory process of out-of-state witnesses, where the motion was made on the fifth day of trial after the defendant had had approximately ten months in which to prepare for trial. In State v. Peyton, supra, the court upheld the denial of the defendant's motion for compulsory process of an out-of-state witness on the grounds that his filing the motion at the beginning of trial was untimely. The Peyton court also found that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by denying the defendant's motion for continuance in connection with the request for compulsory process in light of the fact that the trial had already been continued on three occasions, all attributable to the defendant's acts.

In the instant case, appellant included the names of his brothers in his Motions for Subpoenas (Rl. 185-188), but he did not file the requisite affidavit in support of his request for compulsory process for the out-of-state witnesses at State expense until the beginning of trial (Tl. 25), and never filed a motion under the Uniform Act to Secure the attendance of out-of-state witnesses, (Section 77-21-1 et. seq., supra). The trial court was understandably unwilling to further postpone the trial until appellant's brothers could be brought to Utah to attend the trial in light of the brothers'

agreement to return voluntarily and the more than fifteen month delay from the time of the assault to the time of trial caused by appellant's jumping bail in December of 1981, and his escaping from jail in June of 1982 (Tl. 25). Thus, under the circumstances, and in accordance with <u>Dirring</u> and <u>Peyton</u>, cited above, it was not an abuse of discretion for the trial court to refuse to grant appellant's untimely application for an order that appellant's brothers and wife be brought to trial at State expense.

Furthermore, Utah Code Ann. § 78-26-5 (1953) provides that "an affidavit to be used before any court, judge or officer of this state may be taken before any judge or clerk of any court of any justice of the peace or any notary public in this state." Although the statute's language is permissive, it is well settled that an affidavit is a written statement, under oath, sworn to or affirmed by the person making it before some person who has authority to administer an oath or affirmation. 2A C.J.S. Affidavits § 2, pp. 435-436; Halsy v. Pat Reichenberger Lumber, Inc., 5 Kan. App. 2d 622, 621 P.2d 1021 (1981). Furthermore, "[I]n order to make an affidavit, there must be present at the same time the officer, the affiant, and the paper, and there must be something done which amounts to the administration of an oath." In re Education Association of Passaic, Inc., 117 N.J. Super. 255, 267, 284 A.2d 374 (1971). See also 2A C.J.S. Affidavits § 30, p.465; Thompson v. Self, 197 Ark. 70, 122 S.W.2d 182 (1938).

Thus, since appellant's affidavit was not made under oath before a person authorized to take such an affidavit, the affidavit is invalid, and the trial court properly refused to order that appellant's out-of-state witnesses be subpoenaed at State expense.

This Court dealt with a related situation in State v. Cox, 74 Utah 149, 277 P. 972 (1929). The defendant in Cox presented an affidavit at trial supporting his request for an order that certain witnesses be subpoenaed at State expense. This Court affirmed the trial court's denial of the demand on the grounds that cross-examination of the defendant revealed that he was in fact not unable to bear the expense of bringing the witnesses to the trial and that the affidavit failed to make the requiste showing of materiality of the witnesses' testimony.

In the instant case, although the trial court ruled that appellant was impecunious (Tl. 24), the court properly denied appellant's request on the grounds that his brothers had an affirmative duty to attend appellant's trial under the terms of their probation (Tl. 492; Rl. 114, 116). Furthermore, appellant's affidavit suffered not merely from an insufficient showing of materiality but from complete invalidity since it was not made under oath before a person authorized to take such an affidavit.

Therefore, the trial court properly denied appellant's demand.

POINT II

APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR DISQUALIFICATION OF THE HONORABLE DON V. TIBBS WAS PROPERLY DENIED.

Before trial, appellant filed an Affidavit of Bias and Prejudice against the Honorable Don V. Tibbs on the grounds that Judge Tibbs had previously denied appellant's petition for a writ of habeas corpus (Rl. 194-199). In accordance with Rule 63(b), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, Judge Tibbs referred the matter to the Honorable Allen B. Sorenson, who found the affidavit insufficient and denied appellant's motion to disqualify Judge Tibbs (Tl. 10; Rl. 200). Appellant now objects for the first time that Judge Sorenson did not detail the reasons underlying this conclusion. Apparently, no attempt was made by the defense to ask Judge Sorenson for a clarification of the basis for his order.

Appellant relies on Rule 52(a), Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, which requires that a court find the facts cpecifically and state separately its conclusions of law thereon in all actions tried upon the facts without a jury or with an advisory jury. But Rule 52(a) also provides that "findings of fact and conclusions of law are unnecessary on decisions of motion under Rule 12 or 56 or any other motion except as provided in Rule 41(b)."

An action is commenced by the filing of a complaint or the service of summons (Rule 3), while a motion is an application for an order (Rule 7(b)(l)). The filing of an

Affidavit of Bias and Prejudice is essentially an application for an order of disqualification. Thus, the filing of an Affidavit of Bias and Prejudice is a motion rather than an action, and Judge Sorenson's decision need not be accompanied by findings of fact and conclusions of law.

Appellant cites not law to the contrary. Therefore, it was not error for Judge Sorenson to summarily deny appellant's motion.

POINT III

THE EMERGENCY FIELD IDENTIFICATION WAS PROPER.

Appellant claims that he was denied due process of law by being subjected to an illegal line-up on November 1, 1981 when Office Mosier took him, his brothers, and his uncle to the Circle "D" Motel to be identified by the victim.

Appellant asserted an identical claim in a petition for habeas corpus relief, which was denied by the Sixth District Court in a hearing held June 10, 1982 (Rl. 195-196). This Court later upheld that denial. Poteet v. Garfield County Attorney, Utah (Case No. 18883, field December 17, 1982) (Minute Entry).

Appllant was not subjected to a line-up at the Circle "D" Motel. Rather, it was an emergency field identification. Consequently, the statutes governing line-ups, cited by appellant in his brief, are inapposite to the circumstances of the instant case. State v. Allen, 29
Utah 2d 442, 511 p.2d 159 (1973).

In Stovall v. Denno, 388 U.S. 293 (1967), the United States Supreme Court ruled that "a claimed violation of due process of law in the conduct of a confrontation depends on the totality of the circumstances surrounding it . . . " Id. at 302. Because in Stovall one of the assailant's victims was dead and the other critically injured, and feared to be close to death, the Court held that the confrontation was reasonable under the circumstances.

The circumstances of the instant case are remarkable similar. The victim, Rodney Jones, when discovered, had a weak pulse from the loss of so much blood; his breathing was shallow; and he faded in and out of consciousness (Tl. 330, 343-345, 386, 406). Officer Mosier feared that Jones might not live (Tl. 343-345). Thus, under the circumstances, it was imperative that Officer Mosier allow Jones an immediate opportunity to confront and identify the suspects Jones had named.

Appellant argues that the eighteen hour delay from the time of the assault to the time of the confrontation mitigates against characterizing the confrontation as an emergency field identification. Appellant cites no authority for his proposition. Furthermore, he and the other three suspects were brought to the Circle "D" Motel within an hour or two of the time that Jones was discovered in his room (Tl. 144, 159, 171, 333). Thus, the confrontation was conducted as soon as reasonably possible under the circumstances, and appellant's rights were not infringed.

POINT IV

THE TIME FOR PRELIMINARY HEARING ON THE CHARGE OF BAIL JUMPING WAS EXTENDED FOR GOOD CAUSE.

Appellant claims that he was denied due process of law because he was not afforded a preliminary hearing on the charge of Bail Jumping until December 9, 1982.

In December of 1982, after his preliminary hearing on the charges of Aggravated Assault, Aggravated Robbery, and Attempted Criminal Homicide, appellant moved his family from Escalante, Utah to California (T2. 75-77, 87, 92-93; T3. 15-19, 23; R1. 45). Consequently, appellant failed to appear as ordered at his January 7, 1982, arraignment hearing (T2. 92-93, 98-99; T3. 10, 16). On January appellant was arrested in San Luis Obisbo, California (T2. 88, 94; T3. 10). Appellant fought extradition and was not returned to Utah until April 27, 1982 (T2, 78, 88, 95; T3. 12).

On May 8, 1982, appellant was arraigned on the original three charges and a new charge of Bail Jumping (Rl. 34-35). Appellant pled "Not Guilty" to all four charges (Rl. 34).

On June 13, 1982, only three days after his petition for a writ of habeas corpus had been denied (Rl. 190, 195), appellant escaped from jail (T4. 6-7, 10-12). Appellant was later discovered in Montana and after again fighting extradition, was finally returned to Utah on October 20, 1982 (T4. 10, 23).

At a November 4, 1982 hearing, new counsel for appellant was appointed (R1. 125-127). At that hearing the court also directed that any request for preliminary hearing on the three new charges of Bail Jumping, Escape, and Injuring a Jail should be referred to the Circuit Court (R1. 125). On December 1, 1982 appellant moved to dismiss the Bail Jumping charge on the grounds that he had not been afforded a preliminary hearing on that charge (R1. 158-159). The preliminary hearing on the Bail Jumping charge was held on December 9, 1982 (T3. 1-26; T4. 1-28). Consequently, at the January 6, 1983 hearing on the motion to dismiss and other motions, the trial court ruled that the matter was moot (R1. 163-164). Appellant's subsequent motions to the same effect were denied on the same grounds (T1. 17; T2. 4-6).

Under the circumstances, appellant was not denied due process of law. By pleading to the Bail Jumping charge at the May 8, 1982 arraignment hearing, appellant implicitly waived a preliminary hearing on that charge. State v.

Gustaldi, 41 Utah 63, 123 P. 897 (1912); Pope v. Turner, 30
Utah 2d 286, 517 P.2d 536 (1973).8

⁸ Although, in contrast to the circumstances in <u>Gustaldi</u> and <u>Pope</u>, appellant moved before trial to dismiss the <u>Bail Jumping</u> charge for failure to hold a preliminary hearing on that charge, the trial court in all likelihood considered the motion to be a request for such a hearing in accordance with the court's discretion at the November 4, 1982 hearing. Significantly, appellant did not object to the failure to hold a preliminary hearing until nearly eight months after pleading to the Bail Jumping charge, and once he raised the objection he was afforded a hearing within ten days.

Even assuming that appellant did not waive the preliminary hearing, the preliminary hearing was continued for good cause as provided for in Utah Code Ann. § 77-37-7(4)(c). The delay from the May 8, 1982 hearing at which appellant was first charged with Bail Jumping to the December 9, 1982 preliminary hearing on that charge was due primarily to appellant's escape from jail on June 13, 1982.

This Court in State v. Bradshaw, Utah (Case Nos. 18255 and 18430, filed February 9, 1984), ruled that a 170-day delay in the holding of a preliminary hearing was not an abuse of the "good cause" extension since the delay was the result of the defendant's own actions and concerns. In the case at bar, the delay was likewise a result of appellant's actions and conduct.

Thus, there was good cause to extend the time for the preliminary hearing, and the resulting delay did not deny appellant's right to due process of law.

POINT V

THE WARRANTLESS ARREST OF APPELLANT AT HIS RESIDENCE WAS PROPER.

Appellant contends that under Payton v. New York,

445 U.S. 573 (1980), Officer Mosier's arrest of appellant
without a warrant at his place of residence was improper, and
thus all evidence of the line-up identification and following
processes should have been suppressed by the trial court.

Appellant moved to suppress this evidence on the same grounds before trial (Rl. 179-180). The trial court denied the motion on the grounds that exigent circumstances existed, justifying the warrantless arrest (Tl. 18, 346-349).

Appellant's reliance on <u>Payton</u> is misplaced. When, as in the instant case, the persons to be arrested answer the door or come outside the residence, no warant is required because there has been no entry of private premises. <u>United States v. Mason</u>, 661 F.2d 45 (5th Cir. 1981); <u>Waldrop v. State</u>, 424 So.2d 1345 (Ala. Cr. app. 1982); <u>People v. Morgan</u>. 113 Ill.App. 3d 543, 447 N.E.2d 1025 (1983); LaFave, SEARCH AND SEIZURE § 6.1 (Supp. 1984).

Therefore, since appellant and his co-suspects all voluntarily came outside their residence, the later warrantless arrest was proper, and appellant's motion to suppress was properly denied.

Even assuming that a warrant was required to arrest appellant and the others outside their home absent exigent circumstances in accordance with the Supreme Court's ruling in Payton, such exigent cirucmstances existed in the case at bar. The victim had been seriously injured and was feared to be close to death or losing consciousness (T1. 343-345). Officer Mosier had probable cause to believe that appellant, his brothers, and his uncle had committed the assault since the victim named them as his assailants (T1. 329, 349, 360).

Finally, Officer Mosier believed that appellant and the other

Poteets were transients living in Escalante only temporarily (Tl. 343-345; T5. 11).

Thus, under the circumstances, it would have been unreasonable to require that Officer Mosier obtain a warrant in order to arrest appellant and the his relatives so that he could take them to the Cirle "D" Motel for the emergency field identification. Therefore, the trial court's denial of appellant's motion to suppress was also proper under this analysis.

POINT VI

THE EVIDENCE ADDUCED AT TRIAL WAS SUFFICIENT TO SUPPORT APPELLANT'S AGGRAVATED ASSAULT CONVICTION.

Appellant contends that the evidence was insufficient to support his conviction of Aggravated Assault since the prosecution produced no evidence that appellant used a deadly weapon in the assault.

This Court has used the following standard of review in considering a challenge to the sufficiency of the evidence:

This Court will not lightly overturn the findings of a jury. We must view the evidence properly presented at trial in the light most favorable to the jury's verdict, and will only interfere when the evidence is so lacking and insubstantial that a reasonable man could not possibly have reached a verdict beyond a reasonble doubt. We also view in a light most favorable to the jury's verdict those faults which can be reasonably inferred from the evidence presented to it.

State v. McCardell, Utah, 652 P.2d 942, 945 (1982) (citations ommitted).

Appellant was convicted of Aggravated Assault in a jury trial held February 28, 1983 and March 1, 1983 (Tl. 5-6). There are two elements to the offense: first, under Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-102 (1978), there must be either "(a) [a]n attempt, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to another; or (b) [a] threat, accompanied by a show of immediate force or violence, to do bodily injury to another" (emphasis added); and second, under Utah Code Ann. § 76-5-103 (1978), the assailant must either "(a) . . . intentionally cause [] serious bodily injury to another; or (b) . . . use [] a deadly weapon or such means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury" (emphasis added). The information charged the offense under theory (a) of Section 76-5-103 (Rl. 154), a theory which appellant does not even challenge on appeal. Even so, under the disjunctive wording of the statute, lack of evidence as to use of a deadly weapon in the assault is not necessary to sustain a conviction of Aggravated Assault. Moreover, the evidence adduced at trial was more than sufficient to establish that appellant attempted, with unlawful force or violence, to do bodily injury to the victim, Rodney Jones, and that appellant either intended to cause Jones serious bodily injury or used such means or force likely to produce death or serious bodily injury.

Appellant and the other Poteets were seen entering Jone's motel room on the afternoon of the assault (T1. 140, 218-219, 322-323, 367). They were later heard to say, "We God Damn sure tore that room up, TV and all" (T1. 240-248). Jones was discovered the next morning in his motel room unconscious, battered, and covered with blood (T1. 141, 159, 171-172). Jones named and identified appellant as one of his assailants (T1. 289, 329, 339, 349, 358, 360).

Appellant finally claims, that the evidence did not establish that Jones sustained a serious bodily injury as defined in Utah Code Ann. § 76-1-601(9) (miscited by appellant), which states that "'Serious bodily injury' means bodily injury that creates or causes serious permanent disfigurement, protracted loss or impairment of the function of any bodily member or organ or creates a substantial risk of death."

The evidence established that the assault rendered Jones unconscious for approximately eighteen hours (T1. 282, 363, 422). His face, ears, and left eye were bruised, and he had a small skull fracture (T1. 420-421, 428, 431-432). Dr. Henrie, Jones's attending physician, testified that Jones had suffered a concussion and a contusion of the brain, and that Jones was somnolent (T1. 422-423, 439). Dr. Henrie further testified that Jones had been in danger of death by aspiration of his vomit while unconscious (T1. 424). Finally, Jones's mentation and memory were seriously impaired by the assault (T1. 287, 422, 426, 439).

The above evidence amply supports the conclusion that Jones's injury either caused a protracted impairment of his mentation and memory or created a substantial risk of death. Thus, the evidence was sufficient to support appellant's conviction of Aggravated Assault.

CONCLUSION

For the above stated reasons, appellant's

convictions should be affirmed.